No. 74978-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

THE MANDATORY POSTER AGENCY, INC., d/b/a CORPORATE RECORDS SERVICE, THE WASHINGTON LABOR LAW POSTER SERVICE, WASHINGTON FOOD SERVICE COMPLIANCE CENTER, and STEVEN J. FATA, THOMAS FATA, AND JOSEPH FATA, individually and their corporate capacity,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioners

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED8				
	(1)		Is a Question of Fact as to Whether CRS ed RCW 19.86.020		
		(a)	Standard for First Hangman Ridge Element9		
		(b)	The Court of Appeals Failed to Address the Content of CRS's Communications		
		(c)	The Format of the Communications Was Not Deceptive		
	(2)	2) The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Setting Penalties			
F.	CONCLUSION21				
Appendix					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page				
<u>Table of Cases</u>				
Washington Cases				
Washington Cases Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013)				
Rush v. Blackburn, 190 Wn. App. 945, 361 P.3d 217 (2015)				
168 Wn.2d 1026 (2010)				
Federal Cases				
BMW of No. America, Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1996)				

Swartz v. KPMG, LLC, 476 F.3d 756 (9th Cir. 2007)
United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S. Ct. 2028, 141 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1998)20
111 2. 24 311 (1990)
Other Cases
State ex rel. Suthers v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc.,
260 P.3d 9 (Colo. App. 2009), cert. dismissed (2010)
Statutas
<u>Statutes</u>
15 U.S.C. § 45
15 U.S.C. § 1692
RCW 23B.07.010(1)
RCW 23B.07.040(1)(b)(v)
RCW 23B.07.040(5)
RCW 23B.08.400(3)
RCW 23B.16.010
RCW 23B.16.010(1)
Codes, Rules and Regulations
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
4 Amer. Bar Assoc., Model Bus. Corp. Act Annotated 16-10 (2013)14
John Morey Maurice, The 1990 Wash. Bus. Corp. Act,
25 Gonz. L. Rev. 373 (1990)
Robert McGaughey, Wash. Corp. Law Handbook § 7.04 (2000)14
Stewart M. Landefeld, Barry M. Kaplan, Steven R. Yentzer,
Washington Corporate Law: Corporations and LLCs
(Lexis Nexis, 2002 ed.)
Washington Business Entities: Law and Forms § 13:20
(Lexis Nexis 2014)
WSBA, Wash. Bus. Corp. Act Sourcebook ("WSBA")13, 14

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc. d/b/a Corporate Records Service, the Washington Labor Law Poster Service, Washington Food Service Compliance Center, and Steven J. Fata, Thomas Fata, and Joseph Fata ("CRS") seek review by this Court of the Court of Appeals opinion set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on July 3, 2017. It is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-23.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the State belatedly admitted that a business offering a service to Washington corporations, assisting them to comply with their statutory obligations to prepare and maintain corporate documents, accurately described Washington corporate law, and the business's mailings to prospective customers about a corporate records preparation service specifically stated that the mailings were not from a government agency and bore no earmarks that they were from such an agency, did the trial court err in ruling as a matter of law that such solicitations were unfair or deceptive under the CPA?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in setting onerous penalties under the CPA that exceed the constitutional standards for due process of law and/or the Eighth Amendment for an excessive fine?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals misstates or omits a number of key facts in this case salient to this Court's review decision. Most glaringly, that court fails to note in its opinion that the State's position in this case abruptly changed course – the State initially argued CRS misrepresented Washington corporate law. But that assertion contained in the State's complaint was untrue, as experts testified, and as the State itself seemingly conceded.

CRS is a division of the Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc. ("MPA"), a family business founded by brothers Steve, Tom, and Joe Fata. CP 1288.¹ In 2008, the Attorney General raised concerns over MPA's workplace poster solicitation. CP 8-11. Though the Fatas disagreed with the State's allegations — indeed, similar allegations were dismissed by a Colorado court after a trial on the merits² — the company worked in good faith with the Attorney General's office to resolve its concerns and continue its direct mail business, entering into what amounted to a consent decree, denominated an Assurance of Discontinuance ("AOD"), with the Attorney General. CP 994-99.³

¹ The Fata brothers started the MPA in 1999 to sell labor law posters to businesses across the country. CP 1290, 1296. Such posters are required by law to be posted in employers' businesses advising workers of the applicable minimum wage rates or other wages and hours requirements under local, state, and federal law. The company employs between 30 and 100 people on a seasonal basis in two offices in Lansing, Michigan. CP 1289, 1294-95.

² State ex rel. Suthers v. Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc., 260 P.3d 9, 15 (Colo. App. 2009), cert. dismissed (2010).

³ The AOD was a voluntary agreement entered into by the parties and contained no findings or admissions of liability; in fact, the AOD could not be treated as an

In approximately 2012, the Fatas started CRS to solicit a new line of business – a corporate records service – to assist corporations in complying with Washington corporate law recordkeeping requirements. CP 1297-98, 2194-95, 2197. The Fatas developed the business concept for CRS after receiving similar corporate records mailings directed to their corporation. *Id.*⁴

CRS marketed its corporate records services through direct mail to prospective customers. Corporations provided CRS information requested by completing an Annual Minutes Records form. CP 2199-2200. That form requested the names of all shareholders, directors, and corporate officers, along with a contact person. *Id.* CRS then prepared a Corporate Minute Book that included a unanimous shareholder consent for the election of directors and officers, as well as a ratification by the board of

.

admission of CPA liability. CP 998-99. It contained extensive mutually-agreed standards for MPA's mailings in Washington that barred any effort to equate solicitations from MPA as coming from a public agency. CP 995-98. The AOD was filed in the Thurston County Superior Court and approved by that court. CP 994-98. No violations of the AOD have ever been discerned by the State in connection with MPA's poster business.

⁴ CRS's services are similar to those provided by lawyers, accounting firms, and other corporate service providers such as Legal Zoom and CT Corporation Services. CP 1965-66; 1968. CRS charged \$125. CP 618. Some law firms charge in excess of \$1,000 for corporate maintenance requirements; Legal Zoom charges \$99; and do-it-yourself consent forms can be found for free on the internet. CP 1308-15, 1320.

corporate actions in the prior year. CP 2203-08.⁵ The service came with a money-back guarantee if a customer is dissatisfied. CP 2195, 2205. CRS maintained copies of the Corporate Minute Book as a backup in the event a corporation cannot find the original. CP 618.⁶

CRS sent solicitations to Washington consumers in 2012 and early 2013, CP 618, receiving 2,901 orders, CP 484-85, which were timely fulfilled.

Following CRS's first mailing, the Secretary of State's ("SOS") Corporations Division issued consumer alerts and blog posts that misrepresented CRS's mailing, claiming that it asked consumers to "file" annual minutes. CP 777-92, 803-13, 853-58. Pamela Floyd, the director of that division, publicly labeled CRS's service as a "scam" before any investigation,⁷ and without knowing that Washington corporations have a statutory obligation to hold annual shareholder meetings and prepare

⁵ Annual meeting consents are another useful corporate document that protects shareholders from personal liability for the financial obligations of the corporation and helps directors uphold their fiduciary duties. CP 1966, 1967.

⁶ Nowhere in CRS's mailing were there any phrases prohibited by the AOD, such as "confidential," "important information," "approved," and "effective immediately." CP 2197, 2199, 2201. Indeed, CRS's mailing included multiple disclaimers in bold font explaining "THIS IS NOT A GOVERNMENT DOCUMENT" and that recipients had no obligation to respond. *Id*.

Floyd had not examined the envelope of CRS's mailing before making her pronouncement. CP 722. Had she done so, she would have noted the specific disclaimer there stating that mailer was not a government document.

minutes. CP 707-08, 722, 739. She did not even know what a corporate minute book was. CP 708.

CRS's legal counsel sent letters to the Attorney General's Consumer Protection staff regarding specific complainants, CP 1327-34, explaining CRS's service in compliance with Washington corporation law, CP 1327, 1330, 1333, and further emphasizing that CRS's services are "fully guaranteed" and that any customer could receive a refund if dissatisfied with CRS's services. *Id.*; CP 1018.

After CRS's second mailing in October 2012, CP 618, the SOS published a Consumer Alert equating CRS with Compliance Services, another business offering corporate record keeping assistance, that had no relation to CRS. CP 784-85, 791.8 Media outlets parroted the SOS "alert."

⁸ In drafting this posting, the Division simply cut-and-pasted from a Florida alert, changing few substantive details. CP 725-26, 793-97. The Florida notice was sent to the Division by a Washington attorney in private practice. CP 793-94.

⁹ Following the Consumer Alert, Washington media reported on the Division's statement that CRS's service was a "scam." CP 710, 729. For example, KING 5 News' October 23, 2012 11:00 p.m. broadcast accused CRS of "lying and deception," calling the company a "rat," and erroneously describing CRS's service as "a big fat waste of \$125.00." CP 799-801. In conjunction with its report, KING 5 News posted on its website and Facebook that CRS's mailing was "bogus" and misstated that CRS's Form asked for a "filing fee." CP 656. Parroting the language of the October 19, 2015 Consumer Alert, KING 5 News stated it "is true [that] for-profit corporations and non-for-profit corporations alike must hold shareholder meetings and record minutes" but noted that "there is no requirement to submit the minutes to the state or to pay anyone to do so." *Id.* KING 5 News' Facebook post warned consumers: "Don't be duped!" by CRS's mailing. *Id.*

The next day, the Division published a blog post misstating that CRS's mailing offered to "file annual minutes for shareholders, directors and officers." CP 803-13. The State once again labeled CRS's mailing a "scam" and specifically added that it "encourage[d] people to file an online complaint with the consumer protection section of the Attorney General's office." CP 811-13. The blog stated that the SOS had received "at least 100 calls from Washington businesses saying they've received mailed notices from Compliance Services or Corporate Records Service." *Id.*

After CRS's third mailing in February 2013, CP 618, the SOS issued another Consumer Alert again conflating CRS with "COMPLIANCE SERVICES" and misstating that CRS's mailing requested "Annual Minutes" for "filing." CP 856. After its February 2013 mailing, when contacted by the Attorney General, CRS voluntarily suspended its business in Washington as a good faith gesture while it worked with the Attorney General to address any concerns. CP 619.

When the State ultimately filed the present action, ¹⁰ it misstated Washington corporate law in its complaint. CP 1-31. Even after the

Petition for Review - 6

In July 2013, CRS's counsel sent a letter to the Attorney General's Office offering to allay any concerns over CRS's mailings by proposing that CRS send a letter to each of its 2,901 Washington customers that would provide additional information about CRS's business, reemphasize that customers had no obligation to purchase CRS's services, reiterate the distinction between CRS's service of preparing annual consents and

September 2012 and July 2013 letters from CRS's counsel, the Attorney General's Office misstated Washington corporate law in the complaint and its June 2014 press release. The complaint incorrectly stated that "Washington law does not require a corporation to prepare minutes of its annual meeting of shareholders. Rather, Washington law provides that if a corporation chooses to prepare minutes of its annual meeting those minutes must be retained permanently." CP 6.¹¹ Subsequently, in an interrogatory response shortly thereafter, the State insisted yet again that "there is no 'annual minutes requirement' in Washington law directing a corporation to prepare minutes of its annual meeting." CP 864.

CRS and its expert, University of Washington Law School Professor Dwight Drake, met with the Attorney General's Office in June 2015 to again attempt to correct that office's misstatement of Washington

٠

a corporation's annual renewal requirement, and again offer to fully refund any unsatisfied customer. CP 1348-50. The Attorney General's Office rejected that solution. CP 1351-52.

The State's lawsuit was accompanied by a lengthy press release by the Attorney General which described CRS as having "duped" customers for the preparation of "unnecessary documents that Washington businesses are not required to file with the Secretary of State," and indicated in its headline that 2,900 businesses may receive refunds. CP 859. Attorney General Ferguson was quoted as saying CRS was a "scammer" and it "preyed on unsuspecting business owners." *Id.* The press release also misinformed the public stating that "[t]here is no requirement for Washington corporations to prepare minutes of their shareholder meetings." CP 859.

law. CP 867.¹² Following the meeting, the Attorney General sent a June 18, 2015 letter to "clarify" the State's position, conceding that "[i]f a meeting is held, then minutes must be kept as permanent records" and reaffirmed that corporate actions may "be taken by executed consent without a meeting, thereby bypassing the need for minutes." CP 867-68.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED¹³

(1) There Is a Question of Fact as to Whether CRS Violated RCW 19.86.020

Division I's opinion focuses on the *format* of CRS's communications and not their *content*, op. at 12-15, even though the trial court's decision seemingly rested on both without differentiation, CP 1590-94, and the State argued on appeal that the content of the communications violated Washington law. Resp't br. at 31-35. Simply put, the trial court was incorrect as a matter of law if its decision rested on the proposition that CRS's mailings were deceptive by allegedly

¹² Professor Drake prepared a lengthy report on Washington corporate law in this case, CP 680-97, and also responded in detail to the State's corporate law expert. CP 1961-73.

In reviewing the trial court's summary judgment decisions *de novo*, this Court considers the facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, in a light most favorable to CRS as the non-moving party. *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Any credibility decisions pertinent to material issues are for the trier of fact. *Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank*, 117 Wn.2d 619, 626-27, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991). Moreover, the testimony of a competent expert on an ultimate issue of fact defeats a motion for summary judgment. *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992); *Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890, 910, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010).

misstating Washington corporate law. To the extent the trial court's ruling was predicated on the format of CRS's mailings, a fact question is present as to whether they were unfair or deceptive.

(a) Standard for First *Hangman Ridge* Element

RCW 19.86.020 proscribes unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in trade or commerce. To demonstrate a CPA violation, the State had to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that CRS (1) engaged in an unfair or deceptive practice, (2) occurring in trade or commerce, and (3) having a public interest impact. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables v. Safeco*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). Lack of proof on any one element defeats the action. *Id.* The State failed to meet its burden with regard to the first element of the *Hangman Ridge* test. ¹⁴

The CPA defines neither "unfair" or "deceptive" and Washington courts have permitted the definitions to evolve as a matter of common law

of three ways. Conduct is unfair or deceptive *per se*, if the violation of a statute also constitutes a violation of the CPA. *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 785, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). Alternatively, that element can be met if the acts of the defendant have the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 785; *Behnke v. Ahrens*, 172 Wn. App. 281, 290-92, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013). Finally, that element can be met if the plaintiff proves an unfair or deceptive act or practice not regulated by statute, but the act is in violation of the public interest. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 787; *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 37 n.3, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). Thus, unless a defendant's conduct is not *per se* unfair or deceptive, the plaintiff must show that the defendant's conduct is unfair or

interpretation. *Klem*, 176 Wn.2d at 785. This Court has held that the test for unfair or deceptive pertains to the perceptions of the ordinary or reasonable consumer. *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 50. *See also*, *Behnke*, 172 Wn. App. at 293.

While acknowledging that whether an act is unfair or deceptive is generally a question of law,¹⁵ Division I previously stated that the act has the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public or affects the public interest, the third *Hangman Ridge* element, is a *question of fact*. *Behnke*, 172 Wn. App. at 292, 293; *Holiday Resort Cmty. Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs.*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226-27, 135 P.3d 499 (2006), *review denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1019 (2007) (form rental agreement sent to 500 mobile home park owners; question of fact as to whether that had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public). Similarly, the question of whether a defendant's conduct was unfair or deceptive because it involved an activity not regulated but implicating the public interest is a question of fact.¹⁶

de

deceptive under a case-specific analysis of those terms. *Rush v. Blackburn*, 190 Wn. App. 945, 962, 361 P.3d 217 (2015).

Division I's opinion here notes that whether conduct has the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public is a question of law, *if the facts are undisputed*. Op. at 1. But the facts here are *disputed*, and its opinion is contrary to its own prior decisions.

While Division I noted in *Behnke* and *Holiday Resort* that the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public is a question of fact, this Court in *Klem* did not

Plainly, whether there is *per se* unfair or deceptive conduct is readily a question of law; a court is applying the law in making such a decision. But the other two ways of proving unfair or deceptive conduct — the capacity to deceive or conduct implicating the public interest — are *factually-driven* decisions best left to the trier of fact after a full trial. Division I's ultimate attempt to distinguish its own precedents that held the capacity to deceive to be a question of fact, ¹⁷ quite frankly, makes no sense, conflating what is a question of law and of fact: "... these cases hold that the capacity to reach a substantial portion of the public may present a question of fact, *not* that the fact finder is asked to determine whether undisputed facts are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer." Op. at 10 (Court's emphasis).

There is a conflict among decisions of the Court of Appeals on the applicable standard of review on the first element of a CPA claim. This

specifically address whether the third means of proving the first element of the *Hangman Ridge* test – an unfair or deceptive act or practice not regulated by statute but affecting the public interest – is a question of law or fact. But just as the proof of the third element of the *Hangman Ridge* test is a question of fact, this question is factual – proof of the public interest impact of the defendant's conduct is not a legal issue.

¹⁷ "Whether a deceptive act has the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public is question of fact." *Behnke*, 172 Wn. App. at 292.

Court should grant review to clarify the appropriate standard of review as to that first element. RAP 13.4(b)(2).¹⁸

(b) The Court of Appeals Failed to Address the Content of CRS's Communications

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