FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/25/2017 2:51 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94785-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

THE MANDATORY POSTER AGENCY, INC., d/b/a CORPORATE RECORDS SERVICE, THE WASHINGTON LABOR LAW POSTER SERVICE, WASHINGTON FOOD SERVICE COMPLIANCE CENTER, and STEVEN J. FATA, THOMAS FATA, and JOSEPH FATA, individually and their corporate capacity,

Petitioners.

STATE'S ANSWER AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARC WORTHY
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 29750
JEFFREY G. RUPERT
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 45037
Office of Attorney General
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc. entered into an Assurance of Discontinuance (AOD) with the State pursuant to RCW 19.86.100. In the AOD, it agreed to not send mailers that implied that the solicitation was from the government and not to use specified terms. Petitioners violated this AOD on a mass scale and created the deceptive net impression that their solicitation was from the government and that consumers were required to respond to the solicitation. The trial court correctly ruled and the appellate court affirmed that each of Petitioners' 79,354 solicitations was a deceptive act or practice that violated the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86. The trial and appellate courts also correctly held that Petitioners committed 79,354 violations of the AOD, which was prima facie evidence of 79,354 CPA violations. See RCW 19.86.100.

The issues raised in Petitioners' petition do not involve issues of substantial public interest and there is no conflict with precedent. Based on the undisputed facts, Petitioners were running a scam. Division One followed existing Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent in affirming the trial court's summary judgment decision that Petitioners violated the CPA and in imposing a \$793,540 civil penalty pursuant to RCW 19.86.140. The Court should deny the Petitioners' petition.

The only issue of substantial public interest is whether the State can recover expert witness costs in a CPA case pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 as the trial court had ordered. Although the issue had not been preserved for appellate review, Division One held that the State could not recover expert witness and deposition costs based on RCW 4.84.010. This is in direct conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Ralph Williams' North West Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d 298, 313-4, 553 P.2d 423 (1976). In that case, the Court held that that State recovers costs pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 rather than RCW 4.84. *Id.* The Court should accept the State's cross-petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on July 3, 2017. It is set forth in the Appendix at pages A1 through A23.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. The issues raised in Petitioner's Petition do not warrant review:
 - Is the first element of a Consumer Protection Act claim a question of law?
 - 2. When a party has entered into a prior Assurance of Discontinuance, does RCW 19.86.140 limit all

- future Consumer Protection Act civil penalty awards against that party to a total of \$25,000?
- 3. Was the amount of the civil penalty award unconstitutional?
- B. Can the State recover expert witness and expert deposition transcription fees and costs pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 in a Consumer Protection Act action?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The 2008 Assurance Of Discontinuance

In February 2008, Petitioner Mandatory Poster Agency, Inc. d/b/a Corporate Records Service (CRS) entered into an AOD with the Attorney General's Office (AGO) pursuant to RCW 19.86.100. CP 0487-0493. The AOD prohibits CRS and its "officers, directors, and principals" – the other Petitioners in this case – from engaging in a variety of unfair or deceptive practices including sending misleading solicitations to consumers that create the impression that the solicitations are from a government agency. *Id.* The AOD also barred the use of specific terms and practices. *Id.*

B. The "Corporate Minutes" Solicitation

Petitioners mailed 79,354 solicitations entitled "ANNUAL MINUTES RECORDS FORM" to Washington small business owners in 2012 and 2013. CP 0556:4, 1006. The envelope and solicitation contained

numerous violations of the AOD. CP 0489, 1006, 1011-13, 1023-25, 1027-9, 2195-2201. For instance, on both the envelope and solicitation, Petitioners chose to prominently state "IMPORTANT", even though AOD ¶ 2.1(b)(3) barred the "Use of the term *** 'important information' ***or any terms of similar import[.]" CP 0489, 1011, 1025, 1028, 2195-2201. The Petitioners' solicitations also included the business's Washington corporate ID number, a practice barred by AOD ¶ 2.1(b)(6). CP 0489, 1006, 1012-13, 1023-24, 1027, 1029, 2199-2200. The Petitioners could not identify a single section of Washington law as the basis for the legal advice they purport to give Washington small business owners. CP 0520:1–16, 0521:21–25, 0522:1–24.

In response to the mailings, 2,901 Washington small business owners purchased the Petitioners' product. CP 484, ¶ 8. For \$125, these small business owners received a Corporate Minute Book from Petitioners that contained "Unanimous Consent of Shareholders" and "Unanimous Consent of Directors" form documents pre-populated with the small business's name, board of directors, and shareholders. CP 484, ¶8, 1015–21.

C. The Washington Secretary Of State Issued Warnings About Petitioners' Mailer In Response To Consumer Complaints

The Washington Secretary of State (SOS) received hundreds of customer calls, complaints, and inquiries about the Petitioners' mailers. CP 0429, ¶ 6. See also CP 0613:21–0614:2. The AGO received 120 complaints and letters regarding CRS. CP 1159-67. Patrick Reed of the SOS explained that Petitioners' mailer was "very similar in layout and structure, even to the bar coding section "as the State of Washington Business License Service form "[a]nd the instruction sheets were a very similar form as well." CP 1095.

To attempt to address the widespread consumer confusion that Petitioners' mailer had originated from the SOS, the SOS issued a number of consumer alerts and warnings. CP 0441-47. For instance, the October 24, 2012, Washington SOS alert stated in part:

Our concern is that the form being mailed is not coming from the Secretary of State's office and it could be misleading for businesses to think it's a required filing. In fact, what they are referencing is something a corporation normally does internally themselves without a fee.

Id.

D. Washington Consumers Received The Mailers And Were Deceived

Many Washington consumers believed the CRS mailer originated from the government. For example, Christine Dormaier, a small business owner from Seattle, stated, "I believed that I was required to fill out the form and pay \$125 as instructed in the letter or my corporate status would

be in default." CP 0175:4–5. Angela Douglas, a small business owner from Seattle, received the CRS mailing and stated, "I believed that it was a document from the State of Washington and that I was required to fulfill my corporate filing requirement with the state." CP 0185:4–5. The State submitted declarations from a total of 18 Washington consumers who had been deceived by Petitioners' solicitation. CP 0138-294. The State also submitted the declaration and expert reports of Professor Anthony Pratkanis, an experimental social psychologist at the University of California at Santa Cruz. CP 0448-82. The day before reply briefs were due on the summary judgment briefing, Petitioners submitted a declaration from one Washington consumer claiming to be satisfied with Petitioners' product. CP 1433-34. During the course of three years of investigation and litigation, this was the only Washington consumer Petitioners produced who was satisfied with their product.

E. The Trial Court's Decision

On January 26, 2016, the trial court partially granted the State's summary judgment motion and denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment. CP 1590-94. The trial court held that Petitioners committed 79,354 violations of the CPA and AOD. CP 1591. The trial court later specified the restitution process and imposed civil penalties pursuant to RCW 19.86.140 in the amount of \$793,540, which was based on \$10 for

each of the 79,354 CPA violations. CP 2044-53. The trial court awarded the State \$337,593.20 in attorneys' fees pursuant to RCW 19.86.080(1). CP 2125-27.

The trial court also awarded the State \$39,571.27 in costs pursuant to RCW 19.86.080(1), which included \$32,113.40 in expert witness fees and the transcription of depositions for those experts. CP 1798-9, 2125-7. Petitioners never argued that RCW 4.84 or the CPA barred the State from recovering expert witness and deposition fees and costs before the trial court. CP 2054-64.

F. The Appellate Court decision

Division One affirmed in part and reversed in part in a published opinion. Division One reversed the cost award of the State's expert witness fees and the transcription costs of those depositions on the rationale that costs in a CPA action are limited to those set out in RCW 4.84.010. Slip Op. at 22. Division One also reversed the recovery of paralegal and investigator time to the State for failure to address the six factors identified in *Absher Construction Co. v. Kent School District*, 79 Wn. App. 841, 845, 917 P.2d 1086 (1996).

Division One affirmed on all other issues. In a CPA case, the State must prove (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice, (2) occurring in trade or commerce, and (3) public interest impact. Citing Supreme Court and

other appellate precedent, Division One held that the first element of a CPA case is a question of law when the underlying facts are undisputed. The Court reviewed the undisputed facts and held that "[t]he CRS mass mailings are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer because the undisputed format, images, and content do mimic government-related forms and create the net impression that the recipient is obligated to return the form and pay \$125 to CRS." Slip Op. at 12. As to the third element of a State CPA claim, the Court held that, "because there is no dispute that the mass mailing was sent to over 79,000 consumers, generating 2,901 paid responses, there is no question of fact whether the misleading mailings reached, and thus had the capacity to deceive, a substantial portion of the public." *Id.* at 14. Further, the Court held the mailings violated the AOD and were prima facie evidence of CPA violations. *Id.*

Division One held that RCW 19.86.140 did not limit the civil penalty award to \$25,000 as Petitioners had argued. *Id.* at 16-17. Petitioners also argued that the civil penalty award violated due process relying upon *BMW of N. A., Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996), where the United States Supreme Court examined the reprehensibility of conduct in reviewing a punitive damages award. Division One held that *Gore* did not apply. Citing *Perez-Farias v. Global Horizons, Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 518, 531-32, 286 P.3d 46 (2012),

Division One held "our Supreme Court expressly declined to apply the *Gore* factors to cases involving statutory damages, noting 'no state public policy or due process principles require reduction in the total damages mandated by statute.' And CRS does not provide any compelling authority that courts have applied the *Gore* factors to cases involving statutory damages." *Id.* at 17.

V. REASONS THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED AND CROSS-PETITION GRANTED

The issues raised by Petitioners do not involve issues of substantial public interest and are not in conflict with precedent. The only issue of substantial public interest is whether the State can recover expert witness and deposition fees and costs in a CPA case pursuant to RCW 19.86.080 as the trial court had ordered. Division One's decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Ralph Williams' North West Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.* on that issue.

- A. The issues in Petitioners' Petition do not warrant this Court's review.
 - 1. The first element of a CPA case —whether an act or practice is unfair or deceptive is a question of law.

Petitioners argue that there is a conflict among the Court of Appeals and a question of substantial interest regarding whether the first element of a CPA case is a question of law or a question of fact. There is not. Rather, the issue is well settled. In *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of*

Washington, 166 Wn.2d 27, 204 P.3d 885 (2009), the Court held that whether a particular act is unfair or deceptive is a question of law:

The next issue is whether, as CCS contends, the first *Hangman Ridge* element has been established. Whether a particular act or practice is "unfair or deceptive" is a question of law. *Leingang v. Pierce Cnty Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wash.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). A plaintiff need not show the act in question was intended to deceive, only that it had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Id.*

Id. at 47; Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 133, 149-50, 930 P.2d 288 (1997) ("The issue here is whether PCM committed an 'unfair or deceptive act.' Whether a party in fact committed a particular act is reviewable under the substantial evidence test. However, the determination of whether a particular statute applies to a factual situation is a conclusion of law. Consequently, whether a particular action gives rise to a Consumer Protection Act violation is reviewable as a question of law.") See also Slip Op. at 9, fn 36 (listing 17 additional cases with the same holding).

Division One correctly applied this standard. The material facts were undisputed. Over 79,000 mailers were sent to Washington small business owners, all using the same form and content. Based on the undisputed facts, Division One determined as a matter of law that the mailers were deceptive. Petitioners disagree with Division One's

application of the undisputed facts and claim that Division One's application of this standard failed to address the content and format of the mailer. This is directly refuted by the Court of Appeals decision that quotes and discusses the mailer at length. *See* Slip Op. at 4-5, 12-14. More to the point, Division One's application of well-settled law is not a matter of substantial public interest as Petitioners' claim.

Petitioners also seek to manufacture a conflict between the Court of Appeals. Petitioners argue that the first element of a CPA claim is a question of fact because this Court and Courts of Appeals have repeatedly held that the third element of a CPA claim – the public interest element – is a question of fact. Using a similar rationale, Amici L.A. Investors LLC – who was found liable for over 250,000 CPA violations by the Thurston County Superior Court – claims that review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2). Petitioners and Amici's argument makes no sense. Moreover, Petitioners and Amici's desire to conflate the first and third elements of a CPA claim does not create a conflict between the Court of Appeals. Division One properly rejected this dubious theory, explained that there was no conflict with past precedent, and applied well-

established law. Slip Op. at 11 ("[Petitioners'] reliance on *Holiday Resort*¹ and *Behnke*² is misplaced. Those cases recognize only that the substantial portion of the public component of a deceptive act or practice may present a question of fact, not that a fact finder weighs whether a representation, omission, or practice is likely to mislead a reasonable consumer.")

While not a conflict for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(2), Amici cites two federal cases as supposed support for Amici's position that the first element of a CPA claim should be a question of fact. Neither of these cases are a basis for changing Washington law. Amici first cites *Kalwajtys* v. F.T.C., 237 F.2d 654, 656 (7th Cir. 1956), but this case reviewed an FTC administrative cease and desist order and has no relevance to whether the first element of a CPA case is a question of law. Amici cites F.T.C. v. AMG Servs., Inc., 29 F. Supp. 3d 1338, 1373 (D. Nev. 2014) to suggest

¹ Holiday Resort Community Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs., LLC, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226, 135 P.3d 499 (2006) ("Whether an alleged act is unfair or deceptive is a question of law.")

² Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 292-3, 294 P.3d 729 (2012) ("Washington courts have not tried to decide as a matter of law whether the potential victims of a deceptive act or practice are sufficiently numerous to qualify as 'a substantial portion of the public.' *** In applying the requirement that the allegedly deceptive act has the capacity to deceive 'a substantial portion of the public,' the concern of Washington courts has been to rule out those deceptive acts and practices that are unique to the relationship between plaintiff and defendant. The definition of 'unfair' and 'deceptive' must be objective to prevent every consumer complaint from becoming a triable violation of the act." (citations omitted.))

that a judge is not properly trained to decide whether a practice is deceptive, but Amici's selected quotation from the magistrate's decision fails to mention that the magistrate granted the FTC summary judgment:

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